Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Maturitas

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/maturitas



Review

Overview of long term care of breast cancer survivors

Meagan E. Brennan*, Nehmat Houssami

Screening and Test Evaluation Program (STEP), School of Public Health, SydneyMedicalSchool, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Sydney, NSW, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 February 2011 Received in revised form 4 March 2011 Accepted 7 March 2011 Available online xxx

Keywords: Breast cancer Survivorship care Follow-up care

ABSTRACT

Breast cancer, the most common cancer in women in developed countries, has a generally excellent prognosis, therefore long-term survivors living with the consequences of breast cancer ('survivors') and its treatment are an increasing group in clinical practice. This review discusses the complex issues relevant to survivorship care, including current recommendations for ongoing adjuvant hormonal therapy (tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors), and the management of side effects of cancer treatment (such as menopause, arthralgia, and lymphoedema). Annual mammography screening is advised for detection of second breast cancers, and symptom-directed assessment is warranted where there is suspicion of distant recurrence or (in women using tamoxifen) of endometrial cancer. Management of menopausal symptoms, including treatment-induced premature menopause, is a key issue for many survivors, and can be challenging to manage as conventional hormone replacement therapy is contraindicated in most of these women. Specific therapeutic options for hot flushes and vaginal symptoms are discussed. The review also emphasises the need for survivorship care to include optimisation of general health, including psychosocial and sexual health, bone health and the evaluation of lifestyle-related risk factors and genetic factors. The review provides guidance on the management of many of these issues, and highlights areas requiring further evidence and research.

© 2011 Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd.

Contents

1.	Introduction	00
2.	Guidelines for follow-up care	
3.	Screening in breast cancer survivors	
	3.1. Risk of further breast cancer in survivors	
	3.2. Is mammography screening warranted?	
	3.3. Accuracy of mammography screening in survivors	
	3.4. Adjunct breast imaging in screening breast cancer survivors	
	3.5. Screening for distant metastases	
	3.6. Other screening/testing	00
4.	Lifestyle factors and cancer recurrence	
5.	Ongoing management-adjuvant endocrine therapy	
	5.1. Endocrine therapy for ER positive breast cancer.	
	5.2. Aromatase inhibitors (AIs)	
	5.2.1. Arthralgia	
	5.2.2. Osteopenia/osteoporosis	
6.	Menopause and breast cancer	
	6.1. Lifestyle factors and menopause	
	6.2. Hormone replacement therapy	00
	6.3. Complementary therapies for menopause	
	6.4. Management of hot flushes	
	6.5. Vaginal symptoms	

0378-5122/\$ – see front matter © 2011 Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.03.010

^{*} Corresponding author at: 40 Rocklands Rd, North Sydney, NSW 2060, Australia. Tel.: +61 2 99117250. E-mail addresses: meagan.brennan@sydney.edu.au (M.E. Brennan), nehmath@med.usyd.edu.au (N. Houssami).

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xx

7.	Other issues in breast cancer survivors 7.1. Quality of life	
	7.2. Genetics	
	7.3. Lymphoedema	00
8.	Conclusion.	
	Competing interest information.	00
	Funding information	00
	Contributors	00
	Provenance and peer review	
	Acknowledgment	00
	References	00

1. Introduction

The incidence of breast cancer has increased over the past three decades in many parts of the world, and now appears steady, remaining the most common cancer in females in most developed countries [1]. Breast cancer survival has also increased, due to improvements in treatment and early detection; women diagnosed with early, node-negative breast cancer now have 5-year survival of 95-98% in many countries [2-4]. These factors, in combination with general gains in life expectancy, mean that there is a high prevalence of women living with the long-term effects of breast cancer and its treatment (breast cancer survivors). 'Followup care' has traditionally focused on the detection (or exclusion) of cancer recurrence. It is now recognised that many breast cancer survivors have unmet needs particularly in the areas of treatmentinduced menopausal symptoms, relationship and sexuality issues, and emotional issues such as living with uncertainty, fear of cancer recurrence and late episodes of depression. In addition, the management of ongoing adjuvant endocrine therapy often involves switching between therapeutic agents, making this an important part of care in the years following breast cancer treatment. The increased complexity of this long-term care has led to the concept of a more holistic style of "survivorship care". This review summarises the issues relevant to the long-term care of breast cancer survivors.

2. Guidelines for follow-up care

Guidelines for follow-up care of survivors acknowledge that there is limited evidence on which to base recommendations, hence some recommendations are based on consensus opinion [5-7]. All recommend regular visits with a clinician at varied intervals (3-monthly to much less frequent). Most cancer clinicians review their patients several times in the first year after treatment and reduce the frequency over subsequent years, with some discharging patients from specialist follow-up after 5 years [8] and may tailor this to the particular clinical situation. Guidelines recommend that long-term care includes attention to psychosocial, emotional, genetic and lifestyle issues. Care should be coordinated with good communication between teams of practitioners. More recently, it has been recommended that the patient be involved in developing a plan for ongoing care and be provided written 'survivorship care plan' [5,6,9]. The role, implementation and potential benefits of a written care plan are being investigated in

Follow-up care is provided by specialist oncologists in many countries but workforce issues and a change from focus on detection of recurrence have led some centres to explore options of some consultations with primary care physicians and breast care nurses [10,11]. There is evidence from randomised trials in the UK and Canada that follow-up care provided by primary care physicians is equivalent to hospital-based outpatient care in the detection of can-

cer recurrence. This care can be delivered with a high level of patient satisfaction and greater cost-effectiveness than hospital specialist care [12–15].

3. Screening in breast cancer survivors

3.1. Risk of further breast cancer in survivors

Women who have been affected by breast cancer are at risk of developing an ipsilateral breast recurrence (in-breast recurrence) or a new primary cancer in the treated breast – these will be referred to as ipsilateral breast cancer (IBC). Survivors are also at risk of developing a contralateral breast cancer (CBC). The risk of developing a further breast cancer in either the treated or the contralateral breast varies according to tumour and therapeutic factors associated with the (first) breast cancer. In general, women with early-stage invasive breast cancer treated with breast conservation and adjuvant radiation, with long-term follow-up, are reported to develop IBC in the range of 0.5–1% per year [16–19]. In one of the largest population studies of CBC, Gao et al. [20] reported actuarial rates for CBC of 6.1% at 10 years and 12% at 20 years. The risk of a 'second' breast cancer in survivors, counting IBC or CBC was recently estimated as 5.4–6.6/1000 woman years [21].

3.2. Is mammography screening warranted?

Mammography screening, usually combined with clinical breast examination, is aimed at early detection of further breast cancer events in either breast. There is consensus that survivors should have annual screening mammography (also referred to as 'surveillance') as part of their long-term follow-up [6,7,22-24], however recommendations on the frequency and long-term duration of breast surveillance in survivors vary in guidelines and in practice [6,25–27]. There is also some debate concerning the effectiveness and optimal model of breast surveillance in survivors [14,26–28]. One of the limitations of the evidence on the effect of breast screening in survivors is that it comes from non-randomised studies [29-32] and from extrapolation of potential benefit from randomised population mammography screening trials. A recent review [33] concluded that the evidence from non-randomised studies supported a likely benefit of mammography screening in survivors, but also outlined that most observational studies of this issue were affected by several biases and overestimated breast screening benefit. Furthermore, a study from Lash and colleagues [30] of the association between surveillance mammography and mortality in women 65 years and older, highlighted that screening had a benefit in survivors but that the protective effect of mammography was mostly evident in women whose initial breast cancer was stage I.

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xx

3.3. Accuracy of mammography screening in survivors

Screening mammography in survivors has not been evaluated in population screening programs, so there is a paucity of good-quality data on screening sensitivity or other measures of screening accuracy such as false positives. Most studies of mammography screening in survivors have generally based on selected clinical series and most report only the proportion of ipsilateral or contralateral cancers detected with mammography [33]. The proportion of IBC detected with screening mammography is reported to range between 50% and 80% [18,29,34-40] if any detection by mammography is considered (meaning, counting some mammography-detected IBC that is also detected clinically). Clinical breast examination is advised as adjunct to mammography in surveillance of women with a personal history of breast cancer, since a significant proportion of IBC, approximately 10-30% [27,29,38,41], is detected only on clinical examination. A false positive rate of 2.3% has been reported for surveillance mammography in survivors treated with breast conservation [37].

Estimates of the proportion of CBC detected through mammography screening ranges between 45% and 90% [18,29,42–46] of women who develop CBC. Lu et al. [45] reported estimates of sensitivity and specificity for surveillance mammography in survivors for detection of CBC: sensitivity was reported at 59.6%, however, in women who complied with annual mammography sensitivity increased to 70.8%; specificity of mammography was 98.3%. This study also showed that 34.2% of CBC cases were diagnosed as interval cancers (cancers not detected by screening).

A very recent population-based study of mammography screening in a cohort of 19,078 breast cancer survivors has reported a screening sensitivity of 65.4% (which was similar for ipsilateral and contralateral detection) and a specificity of 98.3% [47]. This study also showed that, while mammography did not detect about one third of the cancers occurring in the cohort of survivors, screen-detected cancers were mostly early-stage cancers [47]. This reinforces the current consensus recommendation for annual mammography as part of ongoing surveillance in survivors. We emphasise that survivors presenting with symptoms or self-detected breast changes require prompt investigation using triple testing (clinical examination, breast imaging and needle biopsy) which is the standard approach for investigating *any* woman with a new breast symptom.

3.4. Adjunct breast imaging in screening breast cancer survivors

At present, the *routine* use of adjunct breast imaging in screening survivors is not recommended in guidelines [6] although there may be a potential role for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [48] or ultrasound [49] in some survivors. Contrast-enhanced MRI has been shown to be more sensitive than mammography in women who have mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2, and hence have a very high lifetime risk of developing breast cancer [48]. In these women, MRI screening is recommended in guidelines [48]. Therefore survivors who are also known to have a breast/ovarian cancer susceptibility gene should be advised to have mammography and MRI as annual breast screening. There is some evidence that the addition of ultrasound to mammography increases screening sensitivity in survivors [49] however the routine use of ultrasound as a screening test in this clinical context is not recommended at present [6].

3.5. Screening for distant metastases

Although survivors are at risk of developing distant metastases, intensive screening for *asymptomatic* metastatic relapse is not recommended [6] because randomised controlled trials (RCTs) [50–52] have shown that early detection of metastatic cancer does

not confer benefit in terms of survival or quality of life. It should be acknowledged that these RCTs were conducted before recent substantial advances in treatment of metastatic disease, so there is some discussion regarding the applicability of the evidence to current standards in metastatic breast cancer [23]; however to date, there are no data to support screening for metastatic disease in survivors. Bone scans, chest X-ray, liver ultrasound, pelvic and chest CT, whole-body MRI, and fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography scanning are therefore not recommended as routine surveillance tests in (asymptomatic) survivors [6,23]. This should be distinguished from investigating new symptoms (such as bone pain, pelvic pain, dyspnoea, or neurologic symptoms) [23] or clinical findings that raise suspicion of metastases, where some of the above-mentioned tests may be warranted. Survivors experiencing new symptoms should be promptly investigated and referred to their oncology teams if they are suspected of having metastatic disease.

3.6. Other screening/testing

Survivors using tamoxifen therapy are at increased risk of developing endometrial cancer - the relative risk of developing endometrial cancer for women taking tamoxifen is approximately two to three times higher than that of age-matched women not taking tamoxifen [53]. The American Committee on Gynaecologic Practice recommends that 'any symptoms of endometrial hyperplasia or cancer reported by a postmenopausal woman taking tamoxifen should be evaluated', and women receiving tamoxifen should be advised to report any vaginal bleeding. Annual gynaecologic review is recommended in all women however specific screening for endometrial cancer in survivors is not recommended [6]. In asymptomatic women receiving tamoxifen, screening for endometrial cancer with routine transvaginal ultrasound, endometrial biopsy, or both, has not been shown to be effective and is not recommended in consensus guidelines [6,52,53]. Transvaginal ultrasound in asymptomatic women receiving tamoxifen may also be associated with a high rate of false positive findings due to tamoxifen-induced benign proliferation [23] and its use to screen survivors is not advised.

Breast cancer tumour markers, such as carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) or CA 15-3 (markers used in highly selected situations in women receiving treatment for metastatic breast cancer) should *not* be used in screening for breast cancer or as part of routine follow-up testing in survivors [6,54].

4. Lifestyle factors and cancer recurrence

There is increasing evidence showing that lifestyle factors have a significant impact on cancer recurrence. As well as being a risk factor for the development of breast cancer, obesity, alcohol, smoking and lack of physical activity increase the risk of cancer recurrence [55,56] and development of contralateral breast cancer [57]. Dietary factors are also implicated; a lower intake of saturated and trans fat in the diet is associated with improved survival after breast cancer diagnosis [58]. As these factors are all potentially modifiable and women are often open to a change in health behaviour after a cancer diagnosis, these issues could be addressed in follow-up consultations [59]. In addition, addressing these factors is a priority for overall health; as cancer survival improves, cardiovascular disease becomes the dominant long-term health risk for breast cancer survivors.

Advice about alcohol consumption requires balance as evidence shows that consuming only three to four alcoholic drinks per week after a breast cancer diagnosis may increase risk of breast cancer recurrence. This risk is particularly high in postmenopausal

J

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

and overweight/obese women [56]. However, several studies have shown a cardio-protective effect of moderate alcohol intake in the general population [60] and a reduction in non-breast cancer death has been suggested in epidemiological studies involving breast cancer survivors [56].

5. Ongoing management-adjuvant endocrine therapy

5.1. Endocrine therapy for ER positive breast cancer

Approximately 75% of breast cancers are oestrogen-receptor positive [61] and the majority of women with these tumours will be treated with adjuvant endocrine therapy. Five years of tamoxifen has been shown in numerous trials to reduce the risk of local recurrence and breast cancer mortality in women with ER-positive tumours regardless of age and menopausal status [62]. It also reduces the risk of contralateral cancer. Five years of tamoxifen remains the standard treatment for women who are premenopausal at diagnosis.

Tamoxifen is usually very well tolerated. Common side effects include hot flushes and vaginal discharge. The incidence of serious adverse events (endometrial carcinoma and venous thromboembolism) is very low [63,64]. Routine endometrial monitoring with transvaginal ultrasound is not recommended [65].

Tamoxifen requires metabolism to its active form by the enzyme CYP2D6, and the efficacy of tamoxifen may be reduced in patients who have impaired CYP2D6 function. Further research is progressing in this area; at present, CYP2D6 testing is not part of routine management of women considering treatment with tamoxifen [65]. It is recommended, however, that drugs that inhibit CYP2D6 (such as some selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, SSRIs) be avoided in women on tamoxifen as they may reduce the efficacy of tamoxifen. Thus paroxetine, fluoxetine and bupropion should be avoided in patients using tamoxifen, and venlafaxine is the preferred antidepressant in this population, with desvenlafaxine a possible alternative given that its metabolism does not involve CYP2D6 [65].

5.2. Aromatase inhibitors (AIs)

Aromatase inhibitors (letrozole, anastrozole and exemestane) have revolutionised the management of ER-positive breast cancer. They reduce the risk of local and distant breast cancer recurrence compared to tamoxifen. Als are not effective in premenopausal women so they are only recommended for use in women who are post-menopausal at diagnosis or women whose menses have not returned 12 months after chemotherapy induced amenor-rhoea.

Optimal timing and duration of therapy has not been established. Aromatase inhibitors may be used as 'up front' treatment for five years (as an alternative to tamoxifen) or may be used sequentially with tamoxifen, with 2–3 years of aromatase inhibitor before or following 2–3 years of tamoxifen. Current guidelines recommend that post-menopausal women consider an aromatase inhibitor at some stage during the course of their treatment [66]. Randomised trials evaluating optimal sequencing and the role of extended adjuvant treatment (beyond five years) are ongoing.

Side effects from Als are common and include hot flushes, vaginal dryness, joint pain and loss of bone mass.

5.2.1. Arthralgia

Arthralgia is a common side effect of therapy with Als and is reported in up to 36% of patients. The most common symptom is morning stiffness and hand or wrist pain. This can be a troubling symptom and is one of the common reasons for discontinuation of therapy [63,64]. Arthralgia may be self-limiting with improvement

after 3 months of therapy but for many women it is persistent. Management of this symptom has not been evaluated in large randomised trials, however common treatments include NSAIDs, paracetamol, supplements (such as glucosamine and omega fish oils), acupuncture and promotion of exercise. Some patients may benefit from a 'drug holiday' with a 3-month break from therapy, others may respond to a switch to another drug in the same class. For women whose symptoms are persistent and severe, therapy may need to ceased and consideration given to tamoxifen as an alternative.

5.2.2. Osteopenia/osteoporosis

Another adverse effect of aromatase inhibitors is a reduction in bone mineral density. Among patients with normal baseline bone mineral density receiving anastrozole, 17% developed osteopenia and among those with osteopenia at baseline, 5% developed osteoporosis. The incidence of fractures was 11% in women receiving AIs, a significantly increased number compared to women on tamoxifen [64,65]. It is therefore recommended that all women have bone mineral density scanning prior to commencement of treatment with an AI and that those with osteopenia on bone density be managed with the standard treatment (including adequate calcium, Vitamin D and weight bearing exercise) and have careful monitoring of bone mineral density every two years [67]. Those with osteoporosis should commence bisphosphonate therapy or consider treatment with tamoxifen for all or part of the adjuvant therapy [65]. Unrecognised Vitamin D deficiency is common in women with breast cancer [68] and Vitamin D levels should be measured and corrected if deficiency is found. Some experts recommend that all women taking AIs take calcium and Vitamin D supplements regardless of bone density [69].

6. Menopause and breast cancer

There are many reasons why symptoms of menopause may be prominent in women following breast cancer treatment. Women taking hormone replacement therapy at diagnosis are asked to stop taking it, chemotherapy may induce temporary or permanent ovarian dysfunction and endocrine therapies may cause menopausal-like symptoms. In addition, many of the usual treatments used for menopausal symptoms are contraindicated in women with breast cancer.

6.1. Lifestyle factors and menopause

Discussion of situations that exacerbate symptoms and avoidance of these may help symptoms. Hot flushes may be more severe in women who smoke and are overweight and may be reduced by exercise [70].

6.2. Hormone replacement therapy

The HABITS study, a randomised trial addressing the efficacy and safely of hormone replacement therapy after breast cancer treatment, was stopped after median follow-up of 2 years as it showed a significantly higher risk of breast cancer events in women randomised to treatment with HRT (clinician choice of therapy) compared to those not taking HRT (relative hazard (RH) risk 3.5; 26 vs 7 events). There was a higher risk of new events in women with hormone receptor positive cancer (RH 4.8), those not taking tamoxifen (RH 3.7) and those taking HRT before breast cancer diagnosis (RH 6.9) [71]. In this trial, there was no significant difference in risk between combined preparations, oestrogen-only preparations and other preparations (such as tibolone) [71]. The Stockholm trial also randomised survivors to treatment with HRT or no HRT; in this study there was no increased risk of recurrence in women in

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

xx (2011) xxx–xxx

the HRT arm. One possible explanation for this is the higher proportion of women taking oestrogen-only preparations rather than continuous combined hormone preparations, indicating that the oestrogen-only preparations may be less hazardous in this group of women [72]. The LIBERATE randomised trial (over 3000 women randomised) showed an increased risk of recurrence in women taking tibolone vs placebo for vasomotor symptoms [73]. Based on these studies, systemic HRT is not recommended in breast cancer survivors. The use of vaginal oestrogens is discussed below.

6.3. Complementary therapies for menopause

There is little quality evidence to support the efficacy and safety of alternative therapies for menopause. Soy and black cohosh have been tested in healthy post-menopausal women with little benefit and the safety of these treatments in this context has not been established. There is some evidence to support the use of high-dose Vitamin E. Acupuncture, relaxation therapy and nurse-delivered interventions can improve symptoms in some cases [70].

6.4. Management of hot flushes

SSRIs (paroxetine, fluoxetine and citalopram) and serotonin noradrenalin reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs, venlafaxine and desvenlafaxine) have been shown to be efficacious and safe for managing hot flushes in breast cancer patients, reducing the number and/or frequency of hot flushes by more than 50% depending on the agent [70]. The effect of these medications appears to be independent of their antidepressant effect. While they are generally well tolerated, side effects may include nausea, dry mouth, and sexual dysfunction.

Caution must be used when these medications are combined with tamoxifen due to the interference of some SSRIs and SNRIs with the CYP2D6 pathway essential for tamoxifen metabolism, as outlined earlier. In this situation, fluoxetine and paroxetine should be avoided; sertraline, venlafaxine and desvenlafaxine are preferred as they are less potent inhibitors of CYP2D6 [74,75].

Gabapentin is a drug used in the management of epilepsy and chronic pain. It is also effective in reducing hot flushes in healthy women and breast cancer patients. In one study its efficacy was equivalent to oestrogen [76] and it has the benefits of not interacting with tamoxifen, and does not interfere with sexual function. It may be considered in women who do not respond to or are unable to take or to tolerate SSRIs/SNRIs. Clonidine is also an option for managing hot flushes in this group of women.

6.5. Vaginal symptoms

Atrophic vaginitis is a common symptom in post-menopausal women and can also be a side effect of aromatase inhibitors. Non-hormonal vaginal agents such as simple moisturising/lubricating treatments may provide significant relief. The safety of vaginal hormonal preparations is unproven however small retrospective trials support their safety [70]. There is a theoretical concern that the efficacy of aromatase inhibitors may be reduced with the use of oestradiol vaginal tablet as it increases the circulating levels of oestradiol but reduced efficacy has not been observed in trials [77]. For this reason, oestradiol vaginal cream may be preferable in this group of women as it does not increase circulating oestradiol.

7. Other issues in breast cancer survivors

7.1. Quality of life

A cancer diagnosis has a significant and long-lasting impact on quality of life, especially in younger women. Menopause symptoms, in addition to fatigue, cognitive impairment combine to cause high levels of distress in some women [78–81]. Fear of cancer recurrence is also a common issue and is one that often persists for many years beyond the cancer diagnosis. This can be managed by providing patients with accurate information about their true risk of recurrence (often lower than the perceived risk). A number of interventions such as mindfulness and other cognitive therapies have been proven effective in some centres [82,83].

Sexual dysfunction, related to the diagnosis of breast cancer, menopause, or side effects of treatment is common, particularly in younger women treated with chemotherapy [84,85]. It is a difficult symptom to treat and requires a holistic approach to management. Contributing causes such as vaginal dryness and depression may be treated and this may improve quality of life. Testosterone is not recommended after breast cancer treatment due to its unproven safety and efficacy [70]. Issues related to body image are common and may have a substantial impact on sexuality [84].

Fatigue and cognitive dysfunction are also common in breast cancer survivors [23] and are particularly challenging to manage.

7.2. Genetics

Assessment of family history is an important part of followup care for breast cancer survivors. Family history is constantly evolving and may take on new significance if additional relatives are diagnosed breast, ovarian or other cancers. Women with a confirmed gene mutation have a lifetime risk of breast cancer around 56% (BRCA2 mutation) to 84% (BRCA1 mutation) [86,87]. While conflicting, there is evidence that BRCA1 gene mutation carriers who develop breast cancer have a worse overall survival at 5 and 10 years compared to non-mutation carriers who develop breast cancer [88,89]. The evidence suggests that survival is similar for BRCA2 mutation carriers as for non-mutation carriers [88,89]. Women with a gene mutation who develop cancer have many of the same risk-reducing options as women who are unaffected by cancer including bilateral mastectomy (with or without reconstruction) and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy [87,89,90].

7.3. Lymphoedema

Sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) has revolutionised the management of the axilla in women with breast cancer and most node-negative women are able to avoid complete axillary lymph node dissection (ALND). SLNB accurately stages the axilla in women with early breast cancer (unifocal tumours less than 3 cm in size) with less morbidity: the rate of severe lymphoedema is reported to be under 5% which less than half the risk of severe lymphoedema in women undergoing complete ALND [91,92]. Lymphoedema may be evident within months of surgery but may not develop until many years later. The use of serial bioimpedence measurements now allows early identification of an increase in arm fluid volume with the hope that intervention will reduce the risk of developing symptomatic lymphoedema [93]. Unilateral arm symptoms such as heaviness, tightness, and swelling can be troublesome to the woman and should prompt referral to a lymphoedema therapist even in the absence of a clinically measurable difference in arm circumference.

8. Conclusion

There are many issues facing long-term survivors of breast cancer that require careful assessment and treatment at follow-up visits, with the aim of optimising disease-free survival as well as general well-being. Annual screening mammography is recommended to detect further breast cancer, while investigation

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

of distant recurrence should be directed by symptoms. Careful management of menopausal symptoms, including maintenance of bone health, is warranted and should avoid the use of hormonal replacement therapy in these women. The long-term management of breast cancer survivors often requires a multidisciplinary approach to comprehensively address the oncologic issues as well as menopausal, psycho-sexual health and other health issues.

Competing interest information

The authors have no competing interests to declare.

Funding information

This work was partly funded by National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) program grant 633003 to the Screening & Test Evaluation Program.

The funding body played no role in the development or writing of the paper.

Contributors

The authors declare that they participated in the development of the concept and content of this paper and have approved the final version.

Provenance and peer review

Commissioned and externally peer reviewed.

Acknowledgment

This work was partly funded by National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) program grant 633003 to the Screening & Test Evaluation Program.

References

- [1] Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer Statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin 2010:60:277-300
- [2] National Breast and Ovarian Cancer Centre (NBOCC). Breast Cancer Statistics. 2011; (http://www.nbocc.org.au/breast-cancer/about-breast-cancer/breast-cancer-statistics): Accessed March 2011.
- [3] National Cancer Institute. Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER). SEER Cancer Statistics: Breast. 2011 [cited March 2011; Available from: http://www.seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast.html.
- [4] Cancer Research UK. Breast cancer statistics Key Facts. 2011 [cited March 2011; Available from: http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/ types/breast/.
- [5] National Breast and Ovarian Cancer Centre (NBOCC). Recommendations for follow-up of women with early breast cancer Surry Hills. National Breast and Ovarian Cancer Centre; 2010.
- [6] Khatcheressian JL, Wolff AC, Smith TJ, et al. American society of clinical oncology 2006 update of the breast cancer follow-up and management guidelines in the adjuvant setting. J Clin Oncol 2006:5091–7.
- [7] Grunfeld E, Dhesy-Thind S, Levine M. Steering committee on clinical practice guidelines for the care and treatment of breast cancer. Clinical practice guidelines for the care and treatment of breast cancer: follow-up after treatment for breast cancer (summary of the 2005 update). CMAJ 2005;172:1319–20.
- [8] Brennan ME, Butow P, Spillane AJ, Boyle FM. Survivorship care after breast cancer: follow-up practices of Australian health professionals and attitudes to a survivorship care plan. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2010;6:116–25.
- [9] Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academics Press; 2006.
- [10] Brennan M, Jefford M. General practitioner-based models of post-treatment follow-up. Cancer Forum 2009:33.
- [11] Baildam A, Keeling F, Noblet M, Thompson L, Bundred N, Hopwood P. Nurse led follow-up for women treated for breast cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Eur J Surg Oncol 2001;27:792.
- [12] Grunfeld E, Fitzpatrick R, Mant DPY, Adewuyi-Dalton R, Stewart J, et al. Comparison of breast cancer patient satisfaction with follow-up in primary care versus specialist care: results from a randomized controlled trial. Br J Gen Pract 1999;49:705–10.

- [13] Grunfeld E, Fitzpatrick R, Mant D, Yudkin P, Adewuyi-Dalton R, Stewart J, et al. Follow-up of breast cancer in primary care vs specialist care: results of an economic evaluation. Br J Cancer 1999;79:1227–33.
- [14] Grunfeld E, Levine MN, Julian JA, et al. A randomized controlled trial (RCT) of routine follow-up for early stage breast cancer: a comparison of primary care versus specialist care. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:848–55.
- [15] Grunfeld E, Mant D, Yudkin P, et al. Routine follow up of breast cancer in primary care: randomised trial. BMJ 1996;313:665–9.
- [16] Freedman G, Fowble B, Hanlon A, Nicolaou N, Fein D, Hoffman J, et al. Patients with early stage invasive cancer with close or positive margins treated with conservative surgery and radiation have an increased risk of breast recurrence that is delayed by adjuvant systemic therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999:44:1005–15.
- [17] Kreike B, Hart AA, van de Velde T, et al. Continuing risk of ipsilateral breast relapse after breast-conserving therapy at long-term follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;71:1014–21.
- [18] Montgomery DA, Krupa K, Jack WJ, et al. Changing pattern of the detection of locoregional relapse in breast cancer: the Edinburgh experience. Br J Cancer 2007:96:1802-7.
- [19] Voogd AC, Nielsen M, Peterse JL, et al. Differences in risk factors for local and distant recurrence after breast-conserving therapy or mastectomy for stage I and II breast cancer: pooled results of two large European randomized trials. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:1688–97.
- [20] Gao X, Fisher SG, Emami B. Risk of second primary cancer in the contralateral breast in women treated for early-stage breast cancer: a population-based study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;56:1038–45.
- [21] Buist DS, Abraham LA, Barlow WE, et al. Diagnosis of second breast cancer events after initial diagnosis of early stage breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010;124:863–73.
- [22] Carlson RW, Allred DC, Anderson BO, et al. Breast cancer. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009;7:122–92.
- [23] Hayes DF. Follow-up of patients with early breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2007;356:2505–13.
- [24] Schwartz GF, Veronesi U, Clough KB, et al. Consensus conference on breast conservation. | Am Coll Surg 2006;203:198–207.
- [25] Guidelines for the management of symptomatic breast disease. Eur J Surg Oncol 2005;31(Suppl. 1):1–21.
- [26] Grunfeld E, Noorani H, McGahan L, et al. Surveillance mammography after treatment of primary breast cancer: a systematic review. Breast 2002:11:228–35.
- [27] Montgomery DA, Krupa K, Cooke TG. Follow-up in breast cancer: does routine clinical examination improve outcome? A systematic review of the literature. Br | Cancer 2007;97:1632–41.
- [28] de Bock GH, Bonnema J, van der Hage J, Kievit J, van de Velde CJ. Effectiveness of routine visits and routine tests in detecting isolated locoregional recurrences after treatment for early-stage invasive breast cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:4010–8.
- [29] Houssami N, Ciatto S, Martinelli F, Bonardi R, Duffy SW. Early detection of second breast cancers improves prognosis in breast cancer survivors. Ann Oncol 2009;20:1505-10.
- [30] Lash TL, Fox MP, Buist DS, et al. Mammography surveillance and mortality in older breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:3001–6.
- [31] Lu WL, Jansen L, Post WJ, Bonnema J, Van de Velde JC, De Bock GH. Impact on survival of early detection of isolated breast recurrences after the primary treatment for breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2009;114:403-12.
- [32] Ciatto S, Miccinesi G, Zappa M. Prognostic impact of the early detection of metachronous contralateral breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 2004;40:1496–501.
- [33] Houssami N, Ciatto S. Mammographic surveillance in women with a personal history of breast cancer: how accurate? How effective? Breast 2010;19:439–45.
- [34] Dershaw DD, McCormick B, Osborne MP. Detection of local recurrence after conservative therapy for breast carcinoma. Cancer 1992;70:493–6.
- [35] Fowble B, Solin LJ, Schultz DJ, Rubenstein J, Goodman RL. Breast recurrence following conservative surgery and radiation: patterns of failure, prognosis, and pathologic findings from mastectomy specimens with implications for treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1990;19:833–42.
- [36] Hassell PR, Olivotto IA, Mueller HA, Kingston GW, Basco VE. Early breast cancer: detection of recurrence after conservative surgery and radiation therapy. Radiology 1990;176:731–5.
- [37] Ashkanani F, Sarkar T, Needham G, et al. What is achieved by mammographic surveillance after breast conservation treatment for breast cancer? Am J Surg 2001;182:207–10.
- [38] Ciatto S, Cataliotti L, Distante V, Rontini M, Muraca MG. Diagnostic features of 225 consecutive cases of cancer recurrence in the conserved breast. Breast 1997;6:367–70.
- [39] Grosse A, Schreer I, Frischbier HJ, Maass H, Loening T, Bahnsen J. Results of breast conserving therapy for early breast cancer and the role of mammographic follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997;38:761–7.
- [40] Stomper PC, Recht A, Berenberg AL, Jochelson MS, Harris JR. Mammographic detection of recurrent cancer in the irradiated breast. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1987;148:39–43.
- [41] van der Sangen MJ, van de Poll-Franse LV, Roumen RM, et al. The prognosis of patients with local recurrence more than five years after breast conservation therapy for invasive breast carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 2006;32:34–8.
- [42] Cawson J, Billson V, Russell I. Mammographic follow up: a vital component of breast cancer management. Aust N Z J Surg 1993;63:551–3.

MAT-5539; No. of Pages 7

M.E. Brennan, N. Houssami / Maturitas xxx (2011) xxx–xxx

- [43] de la Rochefordiere A. Mouret-Fourme E. Asselain B. et al. Metachronous contralateral breast cancer as first event of relapse. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1996;36:615-21.
- [44] Joseph E, Hyacinthe M, Lyman GH, et al. Evaluation of an intensive strategy for follow-up and surveillance of primary breast cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 1998:5:522-8.
- [45] Lu W, Schaapveld M, Jansen L, et al. The value of surveillance mammography of the contralateral breast in patients with a history of breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 2009:45:3000-7
- [46] Sardi A, Eckholdt G, McKinnon WM, Bolton JS. The significance of mammographic findings after breast-conserving therapy for carcinoma of the breast. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1991;173:309-12.
- [47] Houssami N, Abraham LA, Miglioretti DL, et al. Accuracy and outcomes of screening mammography in women with a personal history of early-stage breast cancer. JAMA 2011;305:790-9.
- Saslow D, Boetes C, Burke W, et al. American cancer society guidelines for breast screening with MRI as an adjunct to mammography. CA Cancer J Clin 2007:57:75-89
- [49] Berg WA, Blume JD, Cormack JB, et al. Combined screening with ultrasound and mammography vs mammography alone in women at elevated risk of breast cancer. JAMA 2008;299:2151-63.
- [50] Impact of follow-up testing on survival and health-related quality of life in breast cancer patients. A multicenter randomized controlled trial. The GIVIO Investigators. JAMA 1994;271:1587-92.
- [51] Palli D, Russo A, Saieva C, et al. Intensive vs clinical follow-up after treatment of primary breast cancer: 10-year update of a randomized trial. National research council project on breast cancer follow-up. JAMA 1999;281:1586.
- [52] Temple LK, Wang EE, McLeod RS. Preventive health care, 1999 update: 3. Follow-up after breast cancer. Canadian task force on preventive health care. CMAJ 1999;161:1001-8.
- [53] ACOG committee opinion. No. 336: tamoxifen and uterine cancer. Obstet Gynecol 2006;107:1475-8.
- [54] Harris L, Fritsche H, Mennel R, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2007 update of recommendations for the use of tumor markers in breast cancer. I Clin Oncol 2007;25:5287-312.
- [55] McTiernan A, Irwin M, Vongruenigen V. Weight, physical activity, diet, and prognosis in breast and gynecologic cancers. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:4074-80.
- [56] Kwan ML, Kushi LH, Weltzien E, et al. Alcohol consumption and breast cancer recurrence and survival among women with early-stage breast cancer: the life
- after cancer epidemiology study. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:4410–6. [57] Li Cl, Daling JR, Porter PL, Tang M-TC, Malone KE. Relationship between potentially modifiable lifestyle factors and risk of second primary contralateral breast cancer among women diagnosed with estrogen receptor-positive invasive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;23:1597.
- [58] Beasley JM, Newcomb PA, Trentham-Dietz A, et al. Post-diagnosis dietary factors and survival after invasive breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011.
- [59] Demark-Wahnefried W, Aziz NM, Rowland JH, Pinto BM. Riding the crest of the teachable moment: promoting long-term health after the diagnosis of cancer. I Clin Oncol 2005:23:5814-30
- [60] Holmes MD. Challenge of balancing alcohol intake. J Clin Oncol 2010:28:4403-4.
- [61] Anderson WF, Chatterjee N, Ershler WB, Brawley OW. Estrogen receptor breast cancer phenotypes in the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2002;76:27–36.
 [62] Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTG). Effects of
- chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival; an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005:365:1687-717.
- [63] Coates AS, Keshaviah A, Thurlimann B, et al. Five years of letrozole compared with tamoxifen as initial adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal women with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer: update of study BIG 1-98. J Clin Oncol 2007:25:486-92.
- [64] The Arimidex T. Alone or in Combination (ATAC) Trialists' Group. Effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment for early-stage breast cancer: 100-month analysis of the ATAC trial. Lancet Oncol 2008;9: 45 - 53
- [65] Dent S, Gaspo R, Kissner M, Pritchard K. Aromatase inhibitor therapy: toxicities and management strategies in the treatment of postmenopausal women with hormone-sensitive early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011:
- [66] Burstein HJ, Prestrud AA, Seidenfeld J, et al. American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline: update on adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3784-96.

- [67] Reid DM. Prevention of osteoporosis after breast cancer. Maturitas 2009;64:4-8.
- Nogues X, Servitja S, Pena MJ, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women receiving aromatase inhibitors for early breast cancer, Maturitas 2010;66:291-7.
- [69] Hadji P, Body J-J, Aapro MS, et al. Practical guidance for the management of aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss. Ann Oncol 2008;19:1407-16
- Hickey M, Saunders C, Partridge A, Santoro N, Joffe H, Stearns V. Practical clinical guidelines for assessing and managing menopausal symptoms after breast cancer. Ann Oncol 2008;19:1669-80.
- [71] Holmberg L, Anderson H. HABITS (hormonal replacement therapy after breast cancer?is it safe?), a randomised comparison: trial stopped. Lancet 2004:363:453-5
- von Schoultz E, Rutqvist LE. Menopausal hormone therapy after breast cancer: the Stockholm randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:533-5.
- Kenemans P, Bundred NJ, Foidart JM, et al. Safety and efficacy of tibolone in breast-cancer patients with vasomotor symptoms: a double-blind, randomised, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Oncol 2009;10:135-46.
- [74] Alfaro CL, Lam YW, Simpson J, Ereshefsky L. CYP2D6 inhibition by fluoxetine, paroxetine, sertraline, and venlafaxine in a crossover study: intraindividual variability and plasma concentration correlations. J Clin Pharmacol 2000:40:58-66
- [75] Desmarais JE, Looper KJ. Managing menopausal symptoms and depression in tamoxifen users: implications of drug and medicinal interactions. Maturitas 2010;67:296-308.
- [76] Reddy SY, Warner H, Guttuso Jr T, et al. Gabapentin, estrogen, and placebo for treating hot flushes: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol 2006:108:41-8
- [77] Goss PE, Ingle JN, Pater JL, et al. Late extended adjuvant treatment with letrozole improves outcome in women with early-stage breast cancer who complete 5 years of tamoxifen. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:1948-55.
- [78] Broeckel JA, Jacobsen PB, Balducci L, Horton J, Lyman GH. Quality of life after adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2000;62:141-50.
- [79] Ganz PA. The quality of life after breast cancer-solving the problem of lymphedema. N Engl J Med 1999;340:383-5.
- [80] Ganz PA, Kwan L, Stanton AL, et al. Quality of life at the end of primary treatment of breast cancer: first results from the moving beyond cancer randomized trial. | Natl Cancer Inst 2004;96:376-87.
- [81] Holzner B, Kemmler G, Kopp M, et al. Quality of life in breast cancer patients - not enough attention for long-term survivors? Psychosomatics 2001;42:117–23.
- [82] Lengacher CA, Johnson-Mallard V, Post-White J, et al. Randomized controlled trial of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) for survivors of breast cancer. Psychooncology 2009;18:1261-72.
- [83] Mehnert A, Berg P, Henrich G, Herschbach P. Fear of cancer progression and cancer-related intrusive cognitions in breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2009:18:1273-80.
- [84] Burwell SR, Case LD, Kaelin C, Avis NE. Sexual problems in younger women after breast cancer surgery. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:2815-21.
- [85] Ganz PA. Sexual functioning after breast cancer: a conceptual framework for future studies. Ann Oncol 1997;8:105-7.
- Chen S, Parmigiani G. Meta-analysis of BRCA1 and BRCA2 penetrance. J Clin Oncol 2007:25:1329-33
- Metcalfe K, Lynch HT, Ghadirian P, et al. Risk of ipsilateral breast cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011.
- Lee EH, Park SK, Park B, Kim SW, Lee MH, Ahn SH, Effect of BRCA1/2 mutation on short-term and long-term breast cancer survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010;122:11-25.
- Salhab M, Bismohun S, Mokbel K. Risk-reducing strategies for women carrying BRCA1/2 mutations with a focus on prophylactic surgery. BMC Womens Health 2010:10:28
- $[90]\ Lostumbo\ L, Carbine\ NE, Wallace\ J.\ Prophylactic\ mastectomy\ for\ the\ prevention$ of breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;11:CD002748.
- Mansel RE, Fallowfield L, Kissin M, et al. Randomized multicenter trial of sentinel node biopsy versus standard axillary treatment in operable breast cancer: the ALMANAC Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:599-609.
- [92] Gill G. SNAC trial group of the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS), NHMRC clinical trials centre. Sentinel-lymph-node-based management or routine axillary clearance? One-year outcomes of sentinel node biopsy versus axillary clearance (SNAC): a randomized controlled surgical trial. Ann Surg Oncol 2009;16:266-75
- Ward LC, Czerniec S, Kilbreath SL. Quantitative bioimpedance spectroscopy for the assessment of lymphoedema. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2009;117:541-7.